

THE INSURANCE BUSINESS (SOLVENCY) RULES, 2015¹

[Consolidated Text]

This consolidated version incorporates all amendments listed in the footnote below. It is believed to be accurate and up to date, but it is not authoritative and has no legal effect. No warranty is given that the text is free of errors and omissions and no liability is accepted for any loss arising from its use. The authoritative text of the Rules and of the amending Rules are available on the Guernsey Financial Services Commission's website, www.gfsc.gg.

¹ as amended by the Insurance Business (Solvency)(Amendment) Rules, 2018; the Financial Services Commission (Amendment)(UK/EU Exit) Rules, 2019 and the Insurance Business (Solvency)(Amendment) Rules, 2020.

Table of Contents

Part 1 – Introduction	2
Part 2 – Capital Adequacy	4
Part 3 – MCR	8
Part 4 – PCR	11
Part 5 - Internal Model	28
Part 6 – Valuation	43
Part 7 – Investment	45
Part 8 – Risk Management and Own Risk Solvency Assessment	49
Part 9 - Green Assets	54
Schedule 1 Recognised Accounting Standards	57
Schedule 2 General Business Lines of Business	58
Schedule 3 Glossary of Expressions	62
Schedule 4 Recognised Standard Formulae	66
Schedule 5 Acceptable Rating Agencies	67
Schedule 6 Recognised Territory	68
Schedule 7 Supranational Agencies	69
Schedule 8 General Business Risk Capital Factors	70
Schedule 9 General Business Diversification Adjustment	75
Schedule 10 Life Business Stresses and Risk Capital Factors	79
Schedule 11 Life Business Diversification Adjustment	87
Schedule 12 Green Criteria	91

Part 1 – Introduction

The Guernsey Financial Services Commission (the "Commission"), in exercise of the
powers conferred upon it by Section 38A of the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of
Guernsey) Law, 2002, as amended and of all other powers it enables, hereby makes
the following rules –

Citation

2. These rules may be cited as the Insurance Business (Solvency) Rules, 2015.

Commencement

3. They shall come into force on 1 May 2015, subject to any provisions for transitional relief which may be agreed by the Commission .

Status

- 4. They shall have the status of rules of the Commission under the provisions of section 38A of the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 (the "Law"), as amended.
- 5. Section 30 of the Law requires a licensed insurer to at all times maintain capital resources in accordance with the provisions of these Rules.

Insurer Categorisation

- 6. For the purposes of these Rules each insurance licensee will fall under one of the following categories:
 - (a) Category 1 Commercial Life Insurers a long-term insurer with any element of unrelated party business;

- (b) Category 2 Commercial Life Reinsurers a long-term reinsurer with any element of unrelated party business;
- (c) Category 3 Commercial General Insurers a general insurer with an element of unrelated party business;
- (d) Category 4 Commercial General Reinsurers a general reinsurer providing reinsurance to a commercial insurer, whether or not part of the same group, and with no direct business;
- (e) Category 5 Captive (Re)insurers a life or general insurance or reinsurance entity created and owned, directly or indirectly, by one or more industrial, commercial or financial entities or associations, the purpose of which is to provide insurance or reinsurance cover for risks (other than commercial insurance risks) of the entity or entities to which it belongs, or for entities connected to those entities; and
- (f) Category 6 Special Purpose Entities -
 - (i) Special Purpose Insurers as defined under the Insurance Business (Special Purpose Insurer) Rules 2016; or
 - (ii) entities that the Commission agrees in writing may fall into this category.

This category is primarily intended for insurers whose underwriting and counterparty credit risk are effectively eliminated - examples of these would include transformer cells, fully collateralised catastrophe cells, ILS cells and fully funded entities.

In the case of a Protected Cell Company ("PCC"), each cell and the core should be allocated to one of the above categories.

7. In the event an insurer does not fit any of the precise definitions above, the insurer should contact the Commission to agree the appropriate category to be used. The Commission will deal with such requests on a case by case basis, with a key determinant being the consideration of risk to unrelated parties.

Part 2 - Capital Adequacy

2.1 General Rules

- 8. A licensed insurer must at all times hold regulatory capital resources (as defined in rule 23) greater than or equal to its Minimum Capital Requirement ("MCR").
- 9. A licensed insurer must at all times hold regulatory capital resources (as defined in rule 22) greater than or equal to its Prescribed Capital Requirement ("PCR").
- 10. It is a requirement of section 32 of the Law that a licensed insurer which is a company shall maintain a paid up share capital of not less than the Capital Floor or an equivalent sum in any currency acceptable to the Commission.
- 11. It is a requirement of section 32 of the Law that a licensed insurer which is a company shall maintain minimum shareholders' funds of at least 75% of the Capital Floor or an equivalent sum in any currency acceptable to the Commission.
- 12. The Capital Floor of a licensed insurer, pursuant to paragraph is
 - i. £100,000 for a licensed insurer carrying on general business;
 - ii. £250,000 for a licensed insurer carrying on long term business;
 - iii. £250,000 for a licensed insurer carrying on both long term business and general business; or
 - iv. an amount specified in writing by the Commission.
- 13. For Protected Cell Companies ("PCCs") the Capital Floor only applies to the overall PCC. There is no Capital Floor for each cell or the core.
- 14. The MCR of a licensed insurer must be no less than the Capital Floor.
- 15. The Commission may at any time by notice in writing served on a licensed insurer, a class of licensed insurers or licensed insurers generally, modify the requirements to be used for computations of solvency; and in modifying the said requirements, the Commission may consider
 - i. the nature and classes of business involved,
 - ii. the spread of risk and the historic and industry based claims data,

- iii. the size, complexity of business and business risks of the licensed insurer, and
- iv. any other information which is available to the Commission and which it considers relevant.
- 16. A licensed insurer must calculate its PCR and report the results of that calculation to the Commission at least once a year. A regulatory capital resources calculation should be submitted as part of a licensed insurer's annual return and be calculated and reported, where the Guernsey standard formula is used (as described in Part 4), using the standard format determined by the Commission and published on its website.
- 17. A licensed insurer must monitor the amount of its regulatory capital resources and its MCR on an ongoing basis.
- 18. If the licensed insurer's risk profile deviates significantly from the risk profile detailed in its last reported PCR, the licensed insurer must recalculate its PCR without delay and report it to the Commission.
- 19. A licensed insurer must recalculate the PCR if requested by the Commission.

2.2 Regulatory Capital Resources

- 20. The regulatory capital resources must be determined as set out in rules 21 to 34. Alternative definitions which may be specified by other regulatory regimes are not permitted.
- 21. There are two distinct definitions of the regulatory capital resources of a licensed insurer which are required to meet the PCR and the MCR respectively.
- 22. The regulatory capital resources to meet the PCR are equal to -
 - (a) the difference between assets and liabilities on the basis of their determination in accordance with Recognised Accounting Standards; plus
 - (b) the value of any basis adjustment; less
 - (c) the value of any regulatory adjustment determined by the Commission.

- 23. The regulatory capital resources to meet the MCR are equal to -
 - (a) the regulatory capital resources to meet the PCR; less
 - (b) the sum of -
 - (i) the value of type 2 letters of credit;
 - (ii) the value of issued but uncalled capital; and
 - (iii) the value of any other off-balance sheet assets; plus
 - (c) the value of any regulatory adjustment determined by the Commission.

Regulatory Capital Resources of a PCC

- 24. The total regulatory capital resources of a PCC is the sum of notional regulatory capital resources of each cell and the core, pursuant to rules 29 and 34.
- 25. For a cell the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional PCR must be calculated in accordance with rule 22 as if it were a stand-alone insurer, subject to a maximum of the PCR for that cell (i.e., excess cell capital is not available to meet the total PCR of the PCC), except where permitted under rule 29.
- 26. For a cell, where the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional PCR are less than the notional PCR and the cell has recourse to the capital of the core, pursuant to rule 28, core capital may be notionally allocated to the cell.
- 27. For the core the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional PCR must be calculated in accordance with rule 22 as if it were a stand-alone insurer, less the total of any capital notionally allocated to the cells.
- 28. The total core capital notionally allocated to all cells must not exceed the core's own regulatory capital resources (before any reallocation) over that required to meet its own notional PCR.
- 29. Where the total PCR for the PCC is equal to the total MCR for the PCC, which is itself bound by the Capital Floor, for the purpose of these Rules, the total regulatory capital resources for the PCC may include any core or cell capital, subject to a maximum of the total PCR for the PCC.

- 30. For a cell the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional MCR must be calculated in accordance with rule 23 as if it were a stand-alone insurer, subject to a maximum of the MCR for that cell (i.e. excess cell capital is not available to meet the total MCR of the PCC) except where permitted under rule 34.
- 31. For a cell, where the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional MCR are less than the notional MCR and the cell has recourse to the capital of the core, pursuant to rule 33, core capital may be notionally allocated to the cell.
- 32. For the core the notional regulatory capital resources to meet the notional MCR must be calculated in accordance with rule 23 as if it were a stand-alone insurer, less the total of any capital notionally allocated to the cells.
- 33. The total core capital notionally allocated to all cells must not exceed the core's own regulatory capital resources (before any reallocation) over that required to meet its own notional MCR.
- 34. Where the total MCR for the PCC is bound by the Capital Floor, for the purpose of these Rules, the total regulatory capital resources for the PCC include any core or cell capital, subject to a maximum of the total MCR for the PCC.

Part 3 - MCR

- 35. The MCR must be determined as set out in rules 37 to 46
- 36. The MCR is intended to be the capital required to ensure that the licensed insurer should be able to meet its obligations over the next 12 months with an 85% probability.

3.1 General insurers and reinsurers

- 37. The MCR of a licensed insurer carrying on general business is an amount of not less than the higher of -
 - (a) 12% of that licensed insurer's gross written premiums during the previous financial year, net of
 - (i) the amount of any premium taxes, rebates, refunds, and commissions accrued by the licensed insurer, and
 - (ii) subject to rule 38, the gross amount of any reinsurance premiums (after deduction of any rebates or commissions receivable by the licensed insurer) ceded by the licensed insurer in respect of general business during that preceding financial year;
 - (b) 12% of the value of claims reserves and premium reserves, net of reinsurance and amounts reserved to maximum; and
 - (c) the Capital Floor.
- 38. For the purposes of rule 37(a) any funds received for the assumption, by a licensed insurer, of insurance obligations under a novation, portfolio transfer or other scheme

or arrangement shall be included in the gross written premium income computation unless the novation, transfer or other scheme or arrangement is supported by an actuarial opinion acceptable to the Commission; and in the event that the funds received in respect of the assumption of insurance obligations were not determined on an arms-length basis, the amount to be included in the gross written premium income computation shall be the market value for such an assumption determined on a basis acceptable to the Commission.

- 39. Reinsurance ceded by a licensed insurer to an associated party shall not be taken into account for the purposes of the MCR calculation unless -
 - (a) the associated party is a licensed insurer and meets the solvency requirements as defined in these Rules, or
 - (b) the Commission, in any particular case, consents in writing to its being so taken into account.

3.2 Life Business

- 40. The MCR of a licensed insurer writing life business is the higher of-
 - (a) 2.5% of total reserves, net of reinsurance; and
 - (b) the Capital Floor.
- 41. Where a licensed insurer has entered into contracts providing for the payment of linked benefits in accordance with section 42(2) of the Law, the value of the total reserves referred to in rule 40 should be reduced by the value of the linked liabilities.
- 42. Reinsurance ceded by a licensed insurer to an associated party shall not be taken into account for the purposes of the MCR calculation unless -
 - (a) the associated party is a licensed insurer and meets the solvency requirements as defined in these Rules, or
 - (b) the Commission, in any particular case, consents in writing

to its being so taken into account.

3.3 Composite insurers and reinsurers

43. The appropriate method of calculation of the MCR for a composite licensed insurer carrying on both general business and long term business shall be agreed with the Commission on a case by case basis.

3.4 MCR for a PCC

- 44. The MCR of a PCC is the sum of the notional MCR of each cell and of the core, subject to a minimum of the capital floor determined in accordance with rule 12.
- 45. The notional MCR of each cell and of the core of a PCC must be calculated in accordance with rules 35 to 43 as if the cell or core was a stand-alone licensed insurer. For the purpose of clarity, the capital floor for each cell or the core is nil.

3.5 Category 6 Insurer MCR

46. The MCR shall not apply to a Category 6 insurer, provided that the entity continues to qualify for inclusion in this category on an ongoing basis.

Part 4 - PCR

- 48. The PCR of an insurer equals -
 - (a) an amount determined either -
 - (i) by applying the 'Guernsey standard formula'; or
 - (ii) by applying a 'recognised standard formula'; or
 - (iii) by using an internal model developed by the company to reflect the circumstances of its business; or
 - (iv) by using a partial internal model which is a combination of the approaches specified in (i) and (iii) or (ii) and (iii) above; or
 - (v) by using any one of (i) to (iv) above and modifying it to take account of the Green Discount set out in rule 209, provided the insurer meets all of the requirements set out in Part 9 of these Rules; plus
 - (b) any regulatory adjustment specified in writing by the Commission.
- 49. The PCR is the capital required to ensure that the licensed insurer should be able to meet its obligations over the next 12 months with a probability as defined by the following specified confidence levels -
 - (a) Category 1 Commercial Life Insurers- the PCR is determined at a 99.5% confidence level.
 - (b) Category 2 Commercial Life Reinsurers the PCR is determined at a 97.5% confidence level.

- (c) Category 3 For Commercial General Insurers the PCR is determined at a 99.5% confidence level.²
- (d) Category 4 Commercial General Reinsurers the PCR is determined at a 97.5% confidence level.
- (e) Category 5 Captive (Re)insurers the PCR is determined at a 90% confidence level.

Regardless of the method used, a licensed insurer's PCR cannot be less than its MCR.

- 50. The PCR determined applying the Guernsey standard formula is to be calculated in accordance with -
 - (a) Section A in respect of a general business, and
 - (b) Section B in respect of life business.
- 51. A licensed insurer may use a recognised standard formula applied in full to calculate its PCR in place of the Guernsey standard formula without the prior written approval of the Commission. A list of recognised standard formula is provided at Schedule 4. If the recognised standard formula is not applied in full, then it will be deemed a partial internal model. Where a licensed insurer using a recognised standard formula to calculate its PCR applies the Green Discount, in accordance with rule 209, the recognised standard formula shall not be deemed a partial internal model.
- 52. A licensed insurer may use a standard formula of a country not on the list of recognised standard formulas as if it were a recognised standard formula subject to the prior written approval of the Commission. In obtaining approval, the Commission must be satisfied that the standard formula provides a similar level of

² Where a Category 3 insurer writes all of its business into a single foreign jurisdiction then the insurer may seek the Commission's permission to calibrate the Guernsey standard model with reference to the relevant, applicable confidence level applied in the regulatory capital framework of the foreign jurisdiction in question, where this can be clearly determined. In considering such a request the Commission will take into account the overall level of protection available to policyholders under such an arrangement.

policyholder and beneficiary protection for capital adequacy purposes as provided by the Commission's standard formula relevant to that insurer.

PCR for a PCC

- 53. The PCR of a PCC is the sum of the notional PCR of each cell and of the core, subject to a minimum of the MCR for the PCC.
- 54. The notional PCR of each cell and of the core of a PCC must be calculated in accordance with rules 48 to 52 as if the cell or core was a stand-alone licensed insurer.

Composite Insurers

55. The appropriate method of calculation of the PCR for a composite licensed insurer carrying on both general business and long term business shall be agreed with the Commission on a case by case basis.

Category 6 Insurer PCR

56. The PCR shall not apply to a Category 6 insurer, provided that the entity continues to qualify for inclusion in this category on an ongoing basis.

Section A - General Business - PCR standard formula

- 57. The PCR for general business determined using the standard formula is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for market risk; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for counterparty default risk; plus
 - (c) the capital requirement for premium risk; plus
 - (d) the capital requirement for reserve risk; less

- (e) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 9; plus
- (f) any regulatory adjustment specified in writing by the Commission.
- 58. For each risk and risk component the resulting capital requirement must not be negative.

Market Risk Capital

- 59. The capital requirement in respect of market risk is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for interest rate risk; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for spread risk; plus
 - (c) the capital requirement for currency risk; plus
 - (d) the capital requirement for other market risks; less
 - (e) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 9.

Interest Rate Risk Capital

60. The capital requirement for interest rate risk is the sum of the absolute value of interest sensitive assets less liabilities in each duration band multiplied by the Interest Rate Risk Capital Factor applicable to that duration band as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Spread Risk Capital

61. The capital requirement for spread risk is the sum of the absolute value of spread sensitive assets less liabilities in each duration band multiplied by the Spread Risk Capital Factor applicable to that spread duration band as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Currency Risk Capital

62. The capital requirement for currency risk is the sum of the absolute value of assets less liabilities denominated in currencies other than the reporting currency of the licensed insurer, multiplied by the Currency Risk Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Other Market Risk Capital

- 63. The capital requirement for other market risks is the sum of the capital required in respect of -
 - (a) equity risk, which is the sum of the exposure of each equity type multiplied by the Equity Risk Capital Factor applicable to that equity type as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.
 - (b) property risk, which is the sum of the total exposure to real estate multiplied by the Property Risk Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.
 - (c) derivative risk, which is the exposure to derivatives multiplied by the Derivative Risk Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

(d) other investments subject to market risk but not elsewhere classified, which is equal to the value of other investment exposures multiplied by the Other Investments Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Counterparty Default Risk Capital

- 64. The capital requirement for counterparty default risk is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for receivable default risk; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for other default risk.

Receivable Default Risk Capital

65. The capital required for receivable default risk must be determined for each receivable type and in each of the days overdue bands as the gross exposure, less any amounts offset in case of default, multiplied by the applicable Receivable Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Other Default Risk Capital

66. The capital requirement for other default risk must be determined for each counterparty and each exposure type as the value of the gross exposure, less any amount offset in case of default, multiplied by (1 – Recovery Rate) and the Other Default Risk Capital Factor. The Recovery Rate and the Other Default Risk Capital Factors are as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Offset In the Case of Default

67. For the purpose of determining the exposure to each counterparty, the gross exposures may be reduced by liabilities towards the same counterparty and by collateral posted against the same counterparty, to the extent that they could be offset or recovered in the event of default. Liabilities to one counterparty cannot be used to reduce the net residual exposure to another counterparty unless they are to a counterparty which belongs to the same group. A written legal right of set-off must be in place.

Premium Risk Capital

- 68. The capital requirement for premium risk is equal to -
 - (a) the sum of premium risk capital requirement for each line of business; less
 - (b) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 9.

Premium Risk Capital per Line of Business

- 69. The premium risk capital for a line of business is equal to the lower of -
 - (a) the gross premiums expected to be written on business commencing during the following 12 months, net of commission and ceded written premium, multiplied by the Premium Risk Capital Factor; and
 - (b) the expected risk gap on business commencing during the following 12 months; where the risk gap is determined as -
 - (i) the maximum net aggregate exposure; less
 - (ii) the net written premium determined in accordance with subparagraph (a).

The Premium Risk Capital Factors are as determined in accordance with Schedule 8.

Lines of Business

70. For the purpose of determining the premium risk capital the lines of business are defined in Schedule 2.

Reserve Risk Capital

- 71. The capital requirement for reserve risk is equal to -
 - (a) the sum of reserve risk capital for each line of business; less
 - (b) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 9.

Reserve Risk Capital

- 72. The capital requirement for reserve risk must be determined for each line of business as -
 - (a) the gross claim reserves plus the gross premium reserves, net of amounts recoverable from reinsurance contracts and any 'reserved to maximum' amount, multiplied by the Reserve Risk Capital Factor; less
 - (b) an 'almost reserved to maximum' amount.

The Reserve Risk Capital Factors are as determined in accordance with Schedule 8. The lines of business are defined in Schedule 2.

Reserved to Maximum Amount

73. For those lines of business reserved up to the maximum future amount payable under the policy terms for that line of business there can be no further adverse deterioration in those reserves and so no capital requirement. The Reserve to Maximum Amount is the maximum future amount payable.

Almost Reserved to Maximum Amount

- 74. For those lines of business that are almost reserved up to the maximum future amount payable under the policy terms for that line of business, there can only be limited further adverse deterioration in those reserves. The Almost Reserved to Maximum Amount is equal to -
 - (a) the reserve risk capital determined in accordance with rule 71(a); less
 - (b) the maximum future amount payable under the policy terms less the sum of the gross claim reserves plus the gross premium reserves, net of amounts recoverable from reinsurance contracts.

Section B - Life Business - Standard Formula

- 75. The PCR for life business determined using the Guernsey standard formula is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for market risk; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for counterparty default risk; plus
 - (c) the capital requirement for underwriting risk; less

- (e) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with the Schedule 11; plus
- (f) any regulatory adjustment specified in writing by the Commission.
- 76. The capital requirement for each risk and each risk component is determined as:
 - (a) the unstressed value of the assets less the unstressed value of the liabilities; less
 - (b) the stressed value of the assets less the stressed value of the liabilities

subject to a minimum of zero.

- 77. When determining the capital requirement for each risk, the licensed insurer may make allowances for management actions that it would reasonably expect to take in response to the risk being considered, subject to the management actions being determined:
 - (a) in an objective and consistent manner;
 - (b) they are realistic and consistent with the licensed insurer's current business plan;
 - (c) they reflect any legal, regulatory or contractual requirements; and
 - (d) where there is business with a profits participation clause, they consider policyholder's reasonable expectations.
- 78. Licensed insurers may simplify the stresses set out in rules 79 to 94 to the extent that it is proportionate to the nature, scale and complexity of the risk being considered.

Market Risk Capital

- 79. The capital requirement for market risk is equal to:
 - (a) the capital requirement for real interest rate risk; plus

- (b) the capital requirement for inflation rate risk; plus
- (c) the capital requirement for spread risk; plus
- (d) the capital requirement for currency risk; plus
- (e) the capital requirement for equity risk; plus
- (f) the capital requirement for property risk; less
- (g) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 11.

General Conditions

- 80. The market stresses are applied either directly to asset values or by way of changes to economic variables that in turn affect the value of both assets and liabilities. Some assets and liabilities may be impacted by more than one of the six stress tests and will need to be considered in each relevant stress test.
- 81. For the purposes of rule 79, no risk capital component may be negative. Consequently, if there is no fall in capital resources due to the application of the stresses, the risk capital component is assumed to be zero.

Real Interest Rate Risk Capital

- 82. Real interest rate risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in real interest rates. Real interest rates are the part of the nominal interest rate after allowing for expected inflation and so assets and liabilities whose values are dependent on nominal rates are also sensitive and must be included under this stress.
- 83. The capital requirement for real interest rate risk is the higher of the capital requirements determined by applying the following two stresses -
 - (a) an instantaneous increase in nominal interest rates at each

maturity; and

(b) an instantaneous decrease in nominal interest rates at each maturity.

The increases and decreases to be applied at each maturity are as determined in accordance with Schedule 10. These changes are defined in terms of a change in the nominal interest rate, but the resulting stress must be applied to both the real interest rates and nominal interest rates as appropriate.

Inflation Rate Risk Capital

- 84. Inflation rate risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in inflation rates. To avoid double counting, the stress described in rule 85 should only be applied to those assets and liabilities included in the real interest rate risk calculation and not those which are included in the equity, property or other market risk calculations.
- 85. The capital requirement for inflation rate risk is determined by applying the stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10 and should be applied to both real interest rates and nominal interest rates.

Spread Risk Capital

- 86. Spread rate risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in credit spreads, which measures the extent of financial default risk. Bonds issued by or explicitly backed by:
 - (a) Governments; or
 - (b) supranational organisations listed in Schedule 7 are excluded from this stress.

- 87. The capital requirement for spread risk exposures must be determined for each asset type by applying a credit spread stress (dependent on credit rating) to the current yield, and then multiplying the reduced value of the asset by (1 Default Factor). The credit spread stresses and Default Factors are determined in accordance with Schedule 10.
- 88. For the purpose of applying this stress to the liabilities, the stressed value of the assets determined in accordance with rule 87 should be used to derive a revised discount rate.

Currency Risk Capital

- 89. Currency risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in exchange rates compared to the reporting currency of the licensed insurer.
- 90. The capital requirement for currency risk is determined as the higher of the capital requirements determined by applying the following two stresses-
 - (a) an instantaneous increase in exchange rates compared to the reporting currency, and
 - (b) an instantaneous decrease in exchange rates compared to the reporting currency.

The stresses to be applied are as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Equity Risk Capital

- 91. Equity risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in equity prices. It also applies to other financial assets which are not covered under any of the other market risks.
- 92. The capital requirement for equity risk is determined by applying the stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Property Risk Capital

- 93. Property risk exists for assets and liabilities whose values are sensitive to changes in real estate prices.
- 94. The capital requirement for property risk is determined by applying the stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Counterparty Default Risk Capital

- 95. The capital requirement for counterparty default risk is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for receivables; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for other default risk exposures.

Receivable Default Risk Capital

- 96. Receivable default risk exists where there is exposure to default of amounts receivable.
- 97. The capital requirement for receivable default risk must be determined for each receivable type and in each of the days overdue bands as the gross exposure, less any of amounts offset in case of default, multiplied by the Receivable Capital Factor as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Other Default Risk Capital

- 98. Other default risk exists where there is exposure to default of counterparties.
- 99. The capital requirement for other default risk exposures must be determined for each counterparty and each exposure type as the value of the gross exposure, less any amount offset in case of default, multiplied by (1 Recovery Rate) and the Other Default Risk Capital Factor. The Recovery Rate and Other Default Risk Capital Factors are as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Offset In the Case of Default

100. For the purpose of determining the exposure to each counterparty, the gross exposures may be reduced by liabilities towards the same counterparty and by collateral posted against the same counterparty, to the extent that they could be offset or recovered in the event of default.

Underwriting Risk Capital

- 101. The capital requirement for underwriting risk is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for mortality risk; plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for longevity risk; plus
 - (c) the capital requirement for disability/morbidity risk; plus
 - (d) the capital requirement for lapse risk; plus
 - (e) the capital requirement for expense risk; plus
 - (f) the capital requirement for catastrophe risk; less
 - (g) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 11.

Mortality Risk Capital

- 102. Mortality risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to increases in mortality rates which leads to an increase in liabilities.
- 103. The capital requirement for mortality risk is determined by applying the instantaneous stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Longevity Risk Capital

- 104. Longevity risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to decrease in mortality rates which leads to an increase in liabilities.
- 105. The capital requirement for longevity risk is determined by applying the instantaneous stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Disability/Morbidity Risk Capital

- 106. Disability/Morbidity risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to increases in disability/morbidity rates.
- 107. The capital requirement for disability/morbidity risk is determined by applying the instantaneous stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Lapse Risk Capital

- 108. Lapse risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to changes in policyholder options. This includes full or partial termination, full or partial surrender, any decrease, restriction or suspension of cover, to the extent that they are legal or contractual policyholder rights. Lapse risk also exists for liabilities where there is a risk of a one-off mass lapse event.
- 109. The capital requirement for lapse risk is determined as the higher of the capital requirements determined by applying the following three stresses-
 - (a) an instantaneous permanent increase in lapse rates, for policies where exercising the option would lead to an increase in liabilities, and
 - (b) an instantaneous permanent decrease in lapse rates, for policies where exercising the option would lead to a decrease in liabilities, and
 - (c) a one-off mass lapse event which leads to an increase in liabilities.

The stresses to be applied are as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Expense Risk Capital

- 110. Expense risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to increases in expense cost associated with the servicing the policies.
- 111. The capital requirement for expense risk is determined by applying the instantaneous stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Catastrophe Stress

- 112. Catastrophe risk exists for liabilities which are sensitive to extreme or irregular events that are not captured by the other underwriting risks.
- 113. The capital requirement for catastrophe risk is equal to -
 - (a) the capital requirement for life pandemic risk; for policies where increasing mortality rates leads to an increase in liabilities, plus
 - (b) the capital requirement for disability/morbidity pandemic risk; for policies where increasing disability/morbidity rates leads to an increase in liabilities, plus
 - (c) the capital requirement for mass accident risk; for policies where the mass event leads to an increase in liabilities less
 - (d) a diversification adjustment as determined in accordance with Schedule 11.
- 114. The capital requirement for each catastrophe risk is determined by applying the instantaneous stresses as determined in accordance with Schedule 10.

Part 5 - Internal Model

Introduction

- 115. An insurer may use a partial or full internal model to calculate its PCR subject to the prior written approval of the Commission.
- 116. An insurer may use a partial model for the calculation of -
 - (a) one or more risk components of the standard formula;
 - (b) one or more risk components of a recognised standard formula.
- 117. A partial model may be applied to the whole business of the insurer or only to one or more major business units.
- 118. An internal model cannot be used to determine an insurer's MCR or determine its regulatory capital resources.
- 119. An insurer does not require Commission approval, initial or ongoing, for the use of its internal model in determining its own economic capital needs or management.
- 120. To obtain prior written approval for the use of an internal model to calculate its PCR, the Commission must be satisfied that the model is well designed, the analysis and assumptions used are sound, and that the results of applying the model are reasonable from a prudential viewpoint. The criteria to obtain and retain Commission approval to use an internal model to determine its PCR comprise criteria relating to model validation and model documentation. These criteria are set out below.
- 121. This section applies to undertakings determining their PCR using either
 - (a) a partial internal model; or
 - (b) a full internal model.

The Commission uses the term "internal model" to refer to either (a) or (b) above.

- 122. An internal model is defined as a risk measurement system developed by a licensed insurer to analyse its overall risk position, to quantify risks and to determine the economic capital required to meet those risks. A partial model captures a subset of the risks borne by the licensed insurer using an internally developed measurement system which is used in determining the licensed insurer's economic capital.
- 123. A licensed insurer is required to have its internal model independently validated against the model validation and model documentation criteria.

A. Model Validation Criteria

- 124. A licensed insurer is required to validate its internal model by subjecting it to, as a minimum, the following tests
 - (a) A statistical quality test;
 - (b) A calibration test; and
 - (c) A use test.
- 125. To obtain Commission approval to use an internal model, the Commission must have sufficient confidence that the results being produced by the model provide adequate and appropriate measures of risk and capital. The statistical quality test and the use test enable the Commission to gain an understanding of how the undertaking has embedded its internal model within its business. The calibration test is used by the Commission to assess the results from the internal model in comparison to the undertaking's PCR as determined using the applicable standard formula and the PCR of other undertaking in the same license category.

Statistical Quality Test

126. A licensed insurer is required to demonstrate that the PCR using the internal model addresses the overall risk position of the licensed insurer subject to the nature, scale and complexity of the licensed insurer and its risk exposures.

- 127. A licensed insurer is required to demonstrate the theoretical validity of the internal model including
 - (a) The suitability of model structure, data (including completeness and accuracy), and estimation within the licensed insurer's business context;
 - (b) The appropriateness of the internal model basis within the industry context, including methodological benchmarking to alternatives and best practice;
 - (c) The appropriateness of the parameter estimations. It should be demonstrated that the parameter estimations are appropriate within the market and industry context and parameter uncertainty is addressed to the extent possible; and
 - (d) The consistency, soundness and justification of the methodologies, distributions, aggregation techniques and dependencies (within and among risk categories) adopted.
- 128. A licensed insurer is required to demonstrate the analytical validity of the internal model including—
 - (a) The statistical process for validating that the results of the model are fit for the purpose for which they are used;
 - (b) The implementation of the model given the theoretical basis, goodness of fit, forecasting capability for out-of sample observations (backtesting), sensitivity to changes in key underlying assumptions and stability of outputs;
 - (c) The backtesting applied at various levels of the business activity;
 - (d) The sensitivity analysis undertaken, which should validate the parts of the internal model where expert judgement is used and should examine whether the model output is sensitive to changes in key assumptions;
 - (e) The convergence of the model to demonstrate that model outputs are statistically significant;
 - (f) The processes of monitoring the model's performance; and

- (g) Where possible, benchmarking the model results and techniques with peers, available literature and research.
- 129. An internal model may deliver a probability distribution of the required risk capital rather than a "point estimate".

Techniques to Quantify Risk

- 130. There are several different techniques to quantify risk which could be used by a licensed insurer to construct its internal model. In broad terms, these could range from basic deterministic scenarios to complex stochastic models. Deterministic scenarios would typically involve the use of stress and scenario testing reflecting an event, or a change in conditions, with a set probability to model the effect of certain events (such as a drop in equity prices) on the licensed insurer's capital position, in which the underlying assumptions would be fixed. In contrast, stochastic modelling often involves simulating very large numbers of scenarios in order to reflect the likely distributions of the capital required by, and the different risk exposures of, the licensed insurer.
- 131. The Commission recognises that there are numerous methodologies which a licensed insurer could use as part of its stress and scenario testing. A licensed insurer should use scenarios which it regards as most appropriate for its business. An undertaking should be able to demonstrate that the chosen methodology is appropriate to capture the relevant risks for its business. This includes testing of the model to require that it can replicate its results on request by the Commission and that its response to variation in input data is adequate such as that corresponding to changes in base or stress scenarios.
- 132. Conducting stress and scenario testing to determine the effect of shocks may be a suitable tool to validate statistical assumptions.

Aggregation of Risks

133. Where an internal model is established to assess risks at a modular level, i.e. on a risk-by-risk basis, in order to conduct an overall risk assessment, an undertaking should aggregate the results for each of these risks both within and across business lines. The determination of overall regulatory capital requirements by the internal model should consider dependencies within, as well as across, risk categories. Where the internal model allows for diversification effects, an undertaking should be able to justify its allowance for diversification effects and demonstrate that it has considered how dependencies may increase under stressed circumstances.

Data

- 134. The data used for an internal model should be current and sufficiently credible, accurate, complete and appropriate.
- 135. An undertaking should be able to demonstrate the appropriateness of the underlying data used in the construction of the internal model the aggregation of data, the modelling assumptions and the statistical measures used to construct the internal model.
- 136. An undertaking should undertake an annual (or more frequent) review of the various items that are being measured (claims, lapses, etc.) updated for the additional data available together with a scrutiny of data from previous periods to determine whether this data continues to be relevant. Older data may no longer be relevant possibly due to changes in risks covered, secular trends or policy conditions and guarantees attaching. Similarly, new data may not be of substantive use when modelling items that require a long-term view of experience (such as testing the predictions of cash flows for catastrophic events).
- 137. Where a licensed insurer's data lacks full credibility, it may rely on industry or other sufficiently credible data sources to supplement its own data. Where deemed appropriate, the undertaking should adjust the data to allow for differences in features between the data source and the licensed insurer.

138. In assessing suitability of data and of other inputs to the internal model, expert judgment should be applied and supported by proper justification, documentation and validation.

Base Quantitative Methodology

139. The undertaking should be able to demonstrate that the base quantitative methodology used to construct its internal model is sound and sufficiently reliable to support the model's use, both as a strategic and capital management tool, and to calculate the licensed insurer's regulatory capital requirements, if appropriate. The methodology should also be consistent with the methods used to calculate technical provisions.

Completeness

- 140. The undertaking should be able to demonstrate that the assets and products as represented in the internal model reflect the undertaking's actual assets and products. An undertaking should consider
 - (a) an analysis of whether all reasonably foreseeable and relevant material risks have been incorporated, including any financial guarantees and embedded options; and
 - (b) whether the algorithms used are able to take into account the action of management and the reasonable expectation of policyholders.

Testing

141. Testing should include future projections within the model and to the extent practicable "back-testing".

Calibration Test

- 142. An undertaking is required to demonstrate that the PCR produced by its internal model is consistent with the Commission's modelling criteria (i.e. risk measure, time horizon or confidence level) underlying the standard formula applicable to the undertaking's license category.
- 143. An undertaking may use different modelling criteria in its internal model than adopted by the Commission in the standard formula applicable to the undertaking's license category provided that the overall modelling criteria provides policyholders and beneficiaries with a level of protection at least equivalent to that provided by the standard formula.

Use Test

- 144. An undertaking is required to demonstrate that the internal model (its methodologies and results) is fully integrated within its risk and capital management and system of governance processes and procedures;
- 145. An undertaking's board and senior management are required to
 - (a) have overall control of and responsibility for the construction and use of the internal model for risk management purposes;
 - (b) have sufficient understanding of the model's construction at appropriate levels within the undertaking's organisational structure; and
 - (c) have an understanding of the consequences of the internal model's outputs and limitations for risk and capital management decisions.
- 146. An undertaking is required to have adequate governance and internal controls in place with respect to the internal model.
- 147. Pursuant to rule 142, a licensed insurer should be able to demonstrate
 - (a) how the internal model is used for operational management purposes;

- (b) how the results are used to influence the risk management strategy and business plan of the licensed insurer;
- (c) how senior management are involved in applying the internal model in running the business; and
- (d) how the internal model remains useful and is applied consistently over time.
- 148. An undertaking's board and senior management is not expected to be able to deconstruct the internal model in detail. However, the board should be able to demonstrate it has overall oversight of the model's operation on an ongoing basis and the level of understanding necessary to achieve this.
- 149. Pursuant to rule 145, the undertaking's board and senior management should be able to demonstrate an understanding of -
 - (a) the structure of the internal model and how this fits with their business model and risk-management framework;
 - (b) the methodology behind the internal model;
 - (c) the dynamics of the model, or how the different elements fit together;
 - (d) the limitations of the internal model, including the limitations of statistical assumptions and limitations in business planning assumptions and that these limitations are taken into account in decision-making;
 - (e) in which areas and on which entity / hierarchy level within the undertaking/group diversification effects arise as well as the dependencies throughout the risk profile; and
 - (f) the scope and purpose of the internal model and the risks covered by the internal model, as well as those not covered.
- 150. An undertaking is expected to have a framework for the model's application across business units. This framework should define lines of responsibility for the production and use of information derived from the model. It should also define the purpose and type of management information available from the model, the

- decisions to be taken using that information, and the responsibilities for taking those decisions.
- 151. The internal model should be subject to appropriate review and challenge so that it is relevant and reliable when used by the undertaking.

B. Model Documentation Criteria

General Requirements

- 152. An undertaking is required to document, at a minimum -
 - (a) the design, construction, modelling criteria and governance of the internal model;
 - (b) the justification for and details of the underlying methodology, assumptions and quantitative and financial bases;
 - (c) if applicable, why it has chosen to only use a partial internal model for certain risks or business lines; and
 - (d) if applicable, the reliance on and appropriateness of the use of external vendors/suppliers.
- 153. The documentation should be sufficiently detailed to demonstrate compliance with the statistical quality test, calibration test and use test.
- 154. The documentation of the internal model is to be timely and up to date.
- 155. The documentation of the internal model should be thorough, sufficiently detailed and sufficiently complete to enable an independent knowledgeable third party to form a sound judgment as to the reliability of the internal model and the compliance with the validation criteria and could understand the reasoning and the underlying design and operational details of the internal model.

Partial Model

- 156. An undertaking is required to document why it has chosen to only use a partial internal model for certain risks or business lines.
- 157. The primary concern of the Commission regarding the approval of a partial internal model is "cherry picking" (i.e. undertakings choosing to use its model for regulatory capital purposes only when the model results in a lower capital requirement than the standard formula). The level of document should be such as to justify the reduced scope of the internal model.

Model Limitations

- 158. An undertaking is required to document the instances where the model is shown not to perform effectively.
- 159. The documentation of circumstances under which the undertaking believes that the internal model does not work effectively shall address both design and operational details of the internal model as well as the possible implications due to any lack of compliance with the validation criteria.
- 160. When assessing and documenting circumstances where the internal model does not work effectively undertakings should take into account at least the following aspects:
 - (a) Limitations in risk modelling and the cover of risk captured;
 - (b) The nature, degree and sources of uncertainty surrounding the results of the internal model and sensitivity of key assumptions;
 - (c) Shortcoming and/or deficiencies in input data;
 - (d) Any specific features of the internal model or circumstances or limitation that present potential concerns or would significantly increase the uncertainty of the results of the internal model beyond what would reasonably be expected; and
 - (e) Insufficiencies in IT-systems, governance and related controls surrounding the internal model.

Ongoing Validation and Documentation

Ongoing Validation

- 161. An undertaking is required to monitor the performance of its internal model and regularly review and validate the ongoing appropriateness of the model's specifications.
- 162. An undertaking is required to demonstrate that the model remains fit for purpose in changing circumstances against the criteria of the statistical quality test, calibration test and use test.
- 163. Over time an undertaking 's business may alter considerably, as a result of internal factors or events (such as a change in undertaking strategy) and external factors or events (such as a change in interest rates), so that the internal model may no longer fully capture the risks to which the undertaking is exposed unless adapted. The undertaking is expected to demonstrate that the internal model remains valid for use, both as a strategic decision-making tool in the context of the undertaking's risk management and as a means of calculating the PCR. The undertaking is expected to demonstrate that the data used in the internal model remains appropriate, complete and accurate for its purpose.
- 164. An undertaking is required to obtain Commission approval prior to implementing material changes to its internal model. An undertaking does not require prior Commission approval to enact minor changes to its internal model. A 'model change policy' will be agreed between the undertaking and the Commission regarding the degree and timing of changes made to the internal model.

Ongoing Documentation

- 165. An undertaking is required to document, on an ongoing basis, the planned future development and enhancements of the internal model, including the methodology and timeline for improvements.
- 166. An undertaking is required to document, on an ongoing basis, any major changes to the internal model.

167. The documentation of major changes to the internal model shall address the implications for both the design and operational details of the internal model and an assessment of continued compliance with the validation criteria after the model change has been implemented. When a major change has had a significant impact on the outcome of the internal model the most recent valuation date shall be calculated with both the revised internal model and the previous version of the internal model and the outcomes of the internal models shall be compared. Any differences between the two due to the model change shall be, if possible, identified, quantified and documented.

Commission Approval

Exemptions

- 168. An undertaking does not require Commission approval, initial or ongoing, for the use of its internal model in determining its own economic capital needs or capital management.
- 169. An undertaking determining its PCR using a Recognised Standard Formula in totality is not deemed to be using an internal model and does not require prior Commission approval.

Notification of Intent

- 170. An undertaking must notify the Commission in writing of its intention to use an internal model to determine the PCR. The undertaking must notify the Commission of, at a minimum
 - (a) The scope of the proposed internal model, including which risks, entities, lines of business and/or major business units are covered by the model;
 - (b) Whether the internal model has been previously approved; and

(c) The name of the actuary that will independently assess the validation and documentation of the internal model.

Formal Application

- 171. An undertaking must submit an "Internal Model Assessment Report" to obtain Commission approval to use its internal model to determine its PCR unless rule 172 applies.
- 172. An undertaking can submit an "Internal Model Reassessment Report" to obtain Commission approval to use its internal model if either of the following conditions apply
 - (a) The internal model has been previously approved by the Commission for use by another licensed insurer; or
 - (b) The internal model has been previously approved by a supervisor acceptable to the Commission.
- 173. An undertaking must submit an "Internal Model Change Report" to obtain Commission approval to implement material changes to its previously approved internal model.
- 174. The reports referred to in rules 171 to 173 must be prepared by the independent actuary approved, in writing, by the Commission.
- 175. The reports referred to in rules 171 to 173 may consist of one or more component reports, each of which contributes to an aggregate report. To the extent that the independent actuary relies upon a component report, the author of the component report must be approved, in writing, by the Commission.

Application Costs

176. The costs of preparing a report referred to in rules 171 to 173 will be borne entirely by the licensed insurer.

177. The costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Commission in approving the internal model or a change in internal model will be borne entirely by the licensed insurer and will be non-refundable.

Internal Model Assessment Report

178. The purpose of an Internal Model Assessment Report is to document the independent actuary's assessment of the internal model against each validation criterion and each documentation criterion. The assessment must clearly highlight any critical flaws in the internal model and gaps in model documentation.

Internal Model Reassessment Report

- 179. The purpose of an Internal Model Reassessment Report is to document the independent actuary's assessment of the internal model, which has previously been approved to be used to determine the regulatory capital requirement of another licensed insurer, against each validation criterion and documentation criterion. The assessment must clearly highlight any critical flaws in the internal model and gaps in model documentation.
- 180. The Commission anticipates that while the scope of the Internal Model Reassessment Report is identical to that of the Internal Model Assessment Report, the cost of the former may be materially less than that of the latter. The independent actuary may rely upon the previous assessment regarding validation (excluding the use test) and documentation to the extent that
 - (a) the risk profile of the licensed insurer is assessed not to materially depart from that underlying the internal model; and
 - (b) the level of policyholder protection afforded to policyholders and beneficiaries using the internal model is assessed to be equal to or exceeds that required by the applicable standard formula for the licensed insurer.

The independent actuary cannot rely on the previously validated use test.

Internal Model Change Report

181. The purpose of an Internal Model Change Report is to independently assess the changes to the internal model against each validation criterion and documentation criterion. The assessment must clearly highlight any critical flaws in the internal model and gaps in model documentation.

Part 6 - Valuation

Regulatory Balance Sheet

182. For the purpose of preparing the Regulatory Balance Sheet the value of the assets and the value of the liabilities should be determined on the basis of the Recognised Accounting Standards used to prepare the financial statements, adjusted for any basis adjustment. The Recognised Accounting Standards which are for the time being approved by the Commission for insurance purposes are listed in Schedule 1. Basis adjustments are adjustments that should be applied to both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets and liabilities for the purpose of ensuring an economic valuation for regulatory purposes. Where basis adjustments are made, they should be clearly stated in the documentation submitted with the regulatory capital assessment.

Economic valuation

184. An economic valuation is a valuation such that the resulting assessment of the licensed insurer's financial position is not obscured by hidden or inherent conservatism or optimism in the valuation.

Basis Adjustments

- 185. Licensed insurers must apply the following basis adjustments in determining the regulatory balance sheet
 - (a) Off-balance sheet derivative asset and liability exposures, where payments or receipts are contingent on the performance of an underlying asset or liability, are to be brought into account at fair value, estimated according to the framework for measuring fair value set out in the accounting standards adopted for the financial accounts. Such exposures include, but are not limited to, forwards, futures, swaps, caps and options;
 - (b) All contingent liabilities other than those specified in subparagraph (a), where the licensed insurer is exposed to the risk of having to make payment,

- are to be brought into account. Contingent liabilities include, but are not limited to, credit substitutes such as guarantees and letters of credit;
- (c) Intangible assets are to be reduced to nil value;
- (d) Financial liabilities are not to be adjusted in value to take account of the own credit standing of the licensed insurer or any change thereof after initial recognition; and
- (e) Any other basis adjustments notified in writing by the Commission.
- 186. Licensed insurers may apply the following basis adjustments in determining the regulatory balance sheet
 - (a) Contingent assets other than those specified in rule 185 (a) may be brought into account equal to the nominal value of each exposure. Such assets include, but are not limited to, letters of credit and guarantees;
 - (b) Commitments received by the licensed insurer which have been issued but are unpaid may be brought into account equal to the nominal value. Such commitments include, but are not limited to, uncalled ordinary share capital and preference shares;
 - (c) Surplus funds included in technical provisions of licensed insurers writing long term, profit participation ("with-profit") business may be reduced to nil value. Surplus funds are deemed to be accumulated profits which have not been allocated for distribution to policyholders and beneficiaries;
 - (d) Loans subordinated, in writing, to the prior claims of all policyholders may be reduced to nil value; and
 - (e) Unearned profit margins included in technical provisions may be reduced to nil value provided that any risk adjustment included in technical provisions is at a level of at least equivalent to that at which the PCR of the licensed insurer has been determined.

Part 7 – Investment

- 187. A licensed insurer when, investing in assets, is required to consider whether, for the portfolio as a whole -
 - (a) assets are sufficiently secure. The security of an investment is related to the protection of its value and to the preservation of its economic substance;
 - (b) payments to policyholders or creditors are able to be made as they fall due (liquidity);
 - (c) assets are held in the appropriate location for their availability; and
 - (d) assets are sufficiently diversified subject to the nature, scale and complexity of the business.
- 188. A licensed insurer is required to invest in a manner that is appropriate to the nature of its liabilities. The licensed insurer should
 - (a) consider the extent to which the cash flows from its investments match the liability cash flows in both timing and amount and how this changes in varying conditions;
 - (b) consider the investment guarantees and embedded options that are contained in its policies;
 - (c) consider the currency or currencies of its liabilities and the extent to which they are matched by the currencies of the assets;
 - (d) manage conflicts of interest (e.g. between the licensed insurer's corporate objectives and disclosed insurance policy objectives) to ensure assets are invested appropriately;

- (e) for with-profits liabilities, hold an appropriate mix of assets to meet policyholders' reasonable expectations; and
- (f) if part of an insurance group, hold investments tailored to the characteristics of its liabilities and its needs and not be subject to undue influence from the wider objectives of the group.
- 189. A licensed insurer is required to invest only in assets whose risks it can properly assess and manage. The licensed insurer should -
 - (a) ensure its investments, including those in collective investment funds, are sufficiently transparent and should limit its investments to those where the associated risks of the asset can be properly managed by the licensed insurer;
 - (b) understand all of the risks involved sufficiently well before any investments are undertaken;
 - (c) if it is able to look through the structure of the investments to the underlying assets, consider the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and how this affects the risk characteristics of the investments itself. However, where look through is not possible, appropriate techniques should be developed to assess the risks associated with the investment.
- 190. A licensed insurer must establish an investment policy which -
 - (i) specifies the nature, role and extent of its investment activities;
 - (ii) specifies how it complies with rules 187 to 189; and
 - (ii) establishes explicit risk management procedures with regard to more complex and less transparent

classes of asset and investment in markets or instruments that are subject to less governance or regulation.

- 191. A licensed insurer shall not invest in the following, unless in any particular case the Commission consents in writing to their being regarded as such and on such conditions as it may impose -
 - (a) derivative contracts, or schemes resulting in an equivalent arrangement, in whatever form they take, other than those defined in rule 192; and
 - (b) any asset under lien securing any derivative contract or other such encumbrance (except to the extent that it is securing an obligation of the licensed insurer under an insurance contract).
- 192. A licensed insurer may invest in Exchange Traded Derivative Contracts, or schemes resulting in equivalent arrangements, without the prior approval of the Commission if, and only if, they are not leveraged and to the extent that they are in order to -
 - (i) apply an index tracking strategy to part or all of a portfolio;
 - (ii) apply capital protected strategies to part or all of a portfolio;
 - (iii) apply efficient portfolio management techniques to a portfolio; or
 - (iv) reduce investment risk currently employed on a portfolio.

193.	A licensed insurer may invest in forward foreign exchange transactions, conducted
	with a recognised bank, to the extent that they hedge currency exposures to
	currencies other than the reporting currency in the statutory accounts.

Part 8 - Risk Management and Own Risk Solvency Assessment

- 194. A licensed insurer must establish and maintain a risk management framework that is appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of the business. The risk management framework is the totality of the systems, structures, policies, processes and people that identify, assess, mitigate and monitor all internal and external sources of risk that could have a material impact on the licensed insurer.
- 195. A licensed insurer's risk management framework must -
 - (a) provide for the identification and quantification of material risks under a sufficiently wide range of outcomes using techniques which are appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of the risks it bears;
 - (b) include a risk management policy;
 - (c) be supported by accurate documentation;
 - (c) be responsive to changes in its risk profile; and
 - (d) incorporate a feedback loop, based on appropriate and good quality information, management processes and objective assessment, which enables it to take the necessary action in a timely manner in response to changes in its risk profile.
- 196. A licensed insurer is required to establish and maintain a risk tolerance statement.

 The statement sets out its overall quantitative and qualitative risk tolerance levels and defines its risk tolerance limits taking into account all relevant and material categories of risk and the relationships between them.
- 197. A licensed insurer's risk management policy must, at a minimum -
 - (a) describe how all relevant and material categories of risk are managed, both in the licensed insurer's business strategy and its day-to-day operations;
 - (b) describe the relationship between the licensed insurer's tolerance limits, regulatory capital requirements, economic capital and the processes and methods for monitoring risk;
 - (c) include explicit policies in relation to –

- (i) underwriting risk;
- (ii) investment; and
- (iii) asset-liability management.

Own Risk Assessment

- 198. These Rules introduce requirements for a licensed insurer to perform an Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA) comprising:
 - (a) the licensed insurer's own assessment and calculation of its solvency requirements (an Own Solvency Capital Assessment or OSCA);
 - (b) the licensed insurer's assessment of risk management; and
 - (c) the licensed insurer's assessment of the adequacy of capital resources to meet future capital requirements.
- 199. Subject to the provisions of rule 200, all licensed insurers are required to perform an ORSA.
- 200. A licensed insurer meeting at least one of the following criteria is not required to perform an ORSA
 - (a) A licensed insurer classified as a Category 6 licensee;
 - (b) A licensed insurer which is dormant with no outstanding insurance liabilities;
 - (c) A licensed insurer that would otherwise be required to perform an OSCA only (pursuant to the exemption under rule 201) and whose board of directors considers the PCR to be sufficient. In such cases, this should be clearly stated either in the documentation submitted with the annual return or in separate correspondence. Any such statement should be accompanied by the supporting rationale for this

decision; and

- (d) A licensed insurer notified in writing by the Commission.
- 201. Unless otherwise notified in writing by the Commission, a licensed insurer meeting at least one of the following conditions need not meet the requirements of rules 205, 206 and 206A and may limit their assessment to an OSCA only -
 - (a) a Category 1 licensed insurers writing life business with a MCR below £350,000;
 - (b) a Category 2 licensed insurer with a MCR below £7,500,000;
 - (c) a Category 3 licensed insurer with a MCR below £1,500,000;
 - (d) a Category 4 licensed insurer with a MCR below £7,000,000;
 - (e) a Category 5 licensed insurer; and
 - (f) a Protected Cell Company.
- 202. An ORSA must be performed at least once a year. The ORSA need not necessarily be performed at the licensed insurer's financial year-end if the board considers it more appropriate to conduct the assessment at another time of year. A licensed insurer is required to recalculate the ORSA if the risk profile of the licensed insurer deviates significantly from the assumptions underlying the last performed assessment.
- 203. A licensed insurer is required to include in its ORSA all reasonably foreseeable and relevant material risks including, as a minimum
 - (a) underwriting risk;
 - (b) credit risk;
 - (c) market risk;
 - (d) operational risk;
 - (e) liquidity risk; and

- (f) any additional risks arising due to membership of a group.
- 204. A licensed insurer's ORSA is required to be supported by accurate documentation providing appropriately detailed descriptions and explanations of, as a minimum
 - (a) the modeling criteria (e.g. confidence level, risk measure and time horizon);
 - (b) the risks covered;
 - (c) the measurement approaches used; and
 - (d) the key assumptions made.
- 205. As part of its ORSA, a licensed insurer is required to
 - (a) identify the relationship between its risk management and the level and quality of financial resources needed and available;
 - (b) determine the overall financial resources it needs to manage its business given its own risk tolerance and business plans, and to demonstrate that supervisory requirements are met;
 - (c) base its risk management actions on consideration of its ORSA;
 - (d) assess the quality and adequacy of its capital resources to meet its future regulatory capital requirements and any additional capital needs; and
 - (e) analyse its ability to continue in business, and the risk management and financial resources required to do so over its planning horizon, which is expected to exceed one-year.
- 206. The licensed insurer's continuity analysis referred to in rule 205(e) is required to address a combination of quantitative and qualitative elements in its medium and longer-term business strategy and include projections of its future financial position and analysis of its ability to meet future regulatory capital requirements. As a result of continuity analysis, a licensed insurer must maintain a contingency plan and

procedures for use in a going and gone concern situation. A contingency plan should identify relevant countervailing measures and off-setting actions that the licensed insurer could realistically take to restore/improve its capital adequacy or cash flow position after some future stress event and assess whether actions should be taken by the insurer in advance as precautionary measures.

- 206A. As part of its assessment referred to in rule 205(d), a licensed insurer is required to use appropriate forward-looking quantitative techniques such as risk modelling, stress testing, including reverse stress testing, and scenario analysis. An appropriate range of adverse circumstances and events should be considered, including those that pose a significant threat to the financial condition of the insurer, and management actions should be identified together with the appropriate timing of those actions. Risk measurement techniques should also be used in developing long-term business and contingency plans.
- 207. Further reference should be made to the Commission's published guidance on the ORSA.

Part 9 - Green Assets

- **208.** Green Assets are defined as resources controlled by an insurer, as a result of past events, from which future benefits are expected to flow to the insurer and which meet one of the green criteria set out in Schedule 12.
- **209.** A Category 1 or Category 2 insurer that makes investments into Green Assets may apply the following adjustment, or "Green Discount", when calculating their PCR using the Guernsey standard formula, a recognised standard formula, or a full or partial internal model
 - (a) for investments in Green Assets that are exposed to spread risk: the stresses and factors applied to determine the capital requirement for spread risk for Green Assets may be those of one credit rating band, or equivalent, higher than the rating assigned to them by an Acceptable Rating Agency. No such adjustments should be applied to liabilities. The stresses and factors are set out in either
 - (i) Schedule 10;
 - (ii) the relevant text of a recognised standard formula; or
 - (iii) the documentation of a partial or full internal model.
- **210.** Insurers that apply rule 209 must monitor their PCR both inclusive and exclusive of the Green Discount.
- **211.** The maximum benefit an insurer may derive from the Green Discount will be limited to a 15% reduction in its PCR. This will be measured by comparing the PCR inclusive of the Green Discount with the PCR exclusive of the Green Discount.
- **212.** Where the regulatory capital resources of the insurer, under rule 22, fall below the higher of
 - (a) 105% of the insurer's PCR exclusive of the Green Discount; or
 - (b) an amount specified, in writing, by the Commission,

the insurer must not make further use of the Green Discount. The insurer must consider the measures necessary to improve its solvency position in accordance with Stage 1 of the Guidance Note on Supervisory Ladder of Intervention. Such an event, and any proposed measures, must be notified to the Commission immediately.

213. An insurer applying the Green Discount must –

- (a) determine and document the valuation policy to be applied to Green Assets, which includes any judgements required in applying recognition, classification or measurement criteria of the Recognised Accounting Standards applied by the insurer;
- (b) modify its investment policy, under rule 190, to explicitly set out the nature, role, and extent of investment in Green Assets as part of its portfolio. This should include the green criteria applied, any other positive or negative investment screening criteria used, what controls will be implemented to ensure these are followed, and how any specific risks relating to Green Assets, such as liquidity risks, are managed in the context of the insurer's overall investment portfolio;
- (c) ensure that its risk management portfolio, under rule 195 and rule 197, explicitly incorporates how their risks, in relation to Green Assets and the use of the Green Discount, will be monitored and managed and any tolerance limits associated with the Green Discount will be operated to; and
- (d) where applicable, consider the risks attributable to Green Assets as part of its ORSA, under rules 198 to 207. This must include incorporating the risks around Green Assets into its OSCA;

in a manner proportionate to its nature, scale, and complexity.

- 214. An insurer applying the Green Discount must disclose that fact in the precontractual, or contractual, information provided to policyholders and potential policyholders as appropriate to the nature, scale, and complexity of the insurer and its use of the Green Discount. Disclosures should state what the Green Discount is and the effect that applying it has on the insurer's risk profile and the calculation of its Capital Adequacy.
- 215. Use of the Green Discount constitutes a material change of business plan, under subsection 11(2) of the Law, and an insurer must notify the Commission prior to its implementation. As part of that notification, the insurer must make available to the Commission the documents listed in rule 213 and rule 214 and must quantify the impact applying the Green Discount would have on their Capital Adequacy.

An applicant for a must state that fact in the requirements.	nn insurance licenc n its application ar		

Schedule 1 Recognised Accounting Standards

For the purpose of these Rules, the following accounting standards or practices are approved by the Commission and are referred to as Recognised Accounting Standards:

	Accounting Standard / Practice			
1	International Financial Reporting Standards			
2	United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice*			
3	United States Generally Accepted Accounting Practice			

^{*} Including where the Commission has permitted a derogation from the additional disclosure requirements under FRS 103.

Schedule 2

General Business Lines of Business

1.1 Motor

1.1.1 Obligations

- 1. This line of business includes all obligations covering all damage to or loss of land motor vehicles (including railway rolling stock).
- 2. It also includes obligations which cover liabilities arising out of the use of motor vehicles operating on the land (including carrier's liability).

1.1.2 Guidance: Policies covered

This line of business include private motor comprehensive, private motor non comprehensive, motor cycle, fleets, commercial vehicles (non-fleet) and other motor policies

1.2 General Liability

1.2.1 Obligations

This line of business includes obligations covering all liabilities other than those included in the motor and the marine, aviation and transport lines of business.

1.2.2 Guidance: Policies covered

- 1. This line of business includes employers' liability, professional indemnity (including directors' and officers' liability and errors and omissions liability), public liability, product liability and mixed commercial package policies.
- 2. For the avoidance of doubt, a mixed commercial package can be considered contracts of insurance (other than treaty reinsurance contracts) against more than one of:
 - (a) loss or damage to property;
 - (b) risks to the persons insured incurring liabilities to third parties;
 - (c) risks of loss to the persons insured arising from the failure of debtors of theirs to pay their debts when due;

- (d) risks of loss to the persons insured attributable to interruptions of business carried on by them;
- (e) risks of loss to the persons insured attributable to their incurring unforeseen expenses; or
- (f) any other risk of loss to a commercial operation;

where the risks and losses covered in the contract are rated on a single package basis and no separately identifiable premium is charged or recorded for internal management purposes for any one group of risks or losses specified in the contract.

1.3 Marine, Aviation and Transport

- 1.3.1 This line of business includes obligations which cover all damage or loss to river, canal, lake and sea vessels, aircraft (including satellites) and damage to or loss of goods in transit or baggage irrespective of the form of transport.
- 1.3.2 This line of business also includes all liabilities arising out of use of aircraft, ships, vessels or boats on the sea, lakes, rivers or canals including carrier's liability irrespective of the form of transport.

1.4 Property

1.4.1 Obligations

This line of business includes obligations which cover all damage to or loss of property (other than motor vehicles and marine aviation and transport) due to fire, explosion, natural forces including storm, hail or frost, nuclear energy, land subsidence and any event such as theft.

1.4.2 Guidance: Policies covered

This line of business includes primary (direct) and facultative household and domestic all risks, commercial property (including livestock and crops but excluding energy) and contractors or engineering all risks policies.

1.5 Legal Expenses

This line of business includes obligations which cover legal expenses and cost of litigation.

1.6 Miscellaneous

This line of business includes obligations not elsewhere covered other than those included in the health and health non-proportional lines of business.

1.7 Health

1.7.1 Obligations

Obligations which cover the provision of preventive or curative medical treatment or care including medical treatment or care due to illness, accident, disability and infirmity, or financial compensation for such treatment or care.

1.7.2 Guidance: Policies covered

This line of business includes medical expenses, workers' compensation (but not employer's liability which is covered under the general liability line of business), personal accident, income protection (also known as PHI) and death in service policies.

1.8 Casualty Non-Proportional

This line of business includes non-proportional reinsurance obligations relating to insurance obligations included in the motor and general liability lines of business.

1.9 Marine, Aviation and Transport Non-Proportional

This line of business includes non-proportional reinsurance obligations relating to insurance obligations included in the marine, aviation and transport line of business.

1.10 Property Non-Proportional

This line of business includes non-proportional reinsurance obligations relating to insurance obligations included in the property, legal expenses and miscellaneous lines of business.

1.11 Health Non-Proportional

This line of business includes non-proportional reinsurance obligations relating to insurance obligations included in the health line of business.

Schedule 3

Glossary of Expressions

In these Rules, unless the context requires otherwise –

"associated party" means-

- (a) a holding company, subsidiary or related company of a licensed insurer,
- (b) a subsidiary or related company of a holding company of a licensed insurer,
- (c) a holding company of a subsidiary of a licensed insurer, or
- (d) a company in the case of which a shareholder controller of a licensed insurer, alone or with associates, is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of, more than 50% of the voting power in general meeting.

"basis adjustment" means the adjustment made to the Recognised Accounting Standards' value of an asset or liability under for the purpose of determining the licensed insurer's regulatory financial statements.

"capital adequacy" means the adequacy of an insurer's capital resources relative to its PCR determined in accordance with Part 4.

"capital floor" means the minimum paid up share capital which must be maintained by a licensed insurer pursuant to section 32 of the Law.

"capital resources" means the difference between assets and liabilities on the basis of their recognition and valuation for capital adequacy purposes.

"Captive (Re)insurer" means an insurance or reinsurance entity created and owned, directly or indirectly, by one or more industrial, commercial or financial entities or associations, the purpose of which is to provide insurance or reinsurance cover for risks of the entity or entities to which it belongs, or for entities connected to those entities.

"Commercial General Insurer" means a general insurer with any element of unrelated party business.

"Commercial General Reinsurer" means a reinsurer providing reinsurance to a commercial insurer, whether or not part of the same group, and with no direct business.

"Commercial Life Insurer" means a long-term insurer with any element of unrelated party business.

"Commercial Life Reinsurer" means a long-term reinsurer with any element of unrelated party business.

"counterparty default risk" means the possible losses due to unexpected default, or deterioration in the credit standing, of the counterparties and debtors of insurers over the following 12 months.

"diversification effects" mean the reduction in the risk exposure of insurance and reinsurance undertakings and groups related to the diversification of their business, resulting from the fact that the adverse outcome from one risk can be offset by a more favourable outcome from another risk, where those risks are not fully correlated.

"Green Asset" has the meaning given in rule 208.

"Green Discount" means the adjustments to the PCR set out in rule 209 for an insurer that makes investments in Green Assets.

"interest rate risk" means the sensitivity of the values of assets, liabilities and financial instruments to changes in the term structure of interest rates, or in the volatility of interest rates.

"internal model" means the model which a licensed insurer uses in place of the Standard Formula to calculate its PCR and for which Commission approval has been granted, which appropriately reflects its risk profile, based on accurate and appropriate data and adequate actuarial and statistical techniques that are commensurate with the nature, scale and complexity of its business.

"Law" means the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002

"market risk" means the risk to an insurer's financial condition arising from

movements in the level or volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments, whether on all investments as a whole (general market risk) or on an individual investment (specific market risk).

"MCR" means the Minimum Capital Requirement determined in accordance with Part 3.

"premium risk" means the risk that premium provisions, relating to unexpired risks on existing contracts, will be insufficient or need to be increased. It also relates to the risk that net written premiums, relating to policies expected to be written (or renewed) during the forthcoming financial year, will be insufficient to fund the liabilities arising from that business.

"PCR" means the Prescribed Capital Requirement determined in accordance with Part 4.

"Recognised Accounting Standards" means accounting standards recognised by the Commission in Schedule 1.

"Recognised Bank" means a bank or building society –

- (a) with a short-term credit rating of A-1/P-1, or
- (b) licensed by the appropriate regulatory authority in Guernsey, the Isle of Man or Jersey.

"Recognised Territory" means a territory recognised by the Commission in Schedule 7.

"reserve risk" means the risk that the value of claim settlements will be greater than the value of claim provisions.

"re-securitised assets" means a securitised/structured asset where one or more of the underlying assets is itself a securitized/structured asset.

"securitised/structured asset" means an asset that is typically a tranche of a pool

of assets. Examples include asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities.

"shareholders' funds" means the value of the excess of an insurer's assets over its liabilities; and for the purposes of this definition the expression "liabilities" excludes share capital, retained reserves and loans from shareholders where they are subordinated, in writing, to the prior claims of all other creditors.

"Type 1 letter of credit" means a letter of credit that is irrevocable, issued to the benefit of the undertaking and provided by a Recognised Bank in a Recognised Territory.

"Type 2 letter of credit" means a letter of credit that does not meet the criteria to be classified as a Type 1 letter of credit.

Schedule 4 Recognised Standard Formulae

For the purpose of determining the PCR, the standard formulae in the following countries or territories are for the time being approved by the Commission for use in place of the Guernsey Standard Formula and are referred to as Recognised Standard Formulae: –

	Country / Territory
1	Australia
2	Bermuda
3	Canada
4	the European Union
5	Japan
6	Switzerland
7	the United Kingdom

Schedule 5 Acceptable Rating Agencies

For the purpose of these Rules, the following rating agencies are for the time being approved by the Commission and are referred to as Acceptable Rating Agencies:

	Rating Agency	
1	A M Best Company	
2	Fitch Ratings	
3	Moody's Investors Service	
4	Standard and Poor's	

Schedule 6 Recognised Territory

For the purpose of these Rules, the following territories are recognised by the Commission and are referred to as Recognised Territories:

	Territory				
1	any member state of the European Economic Area,				
2	any member state of the European Free Trade Area,				
3	the Bailiwick of Guernsey, the Isle of Man or the Bailiwick of Jersey, and				
4	the following countries or territories -				
	(a) Australia				
	(b) Canada				
	(c) Gibraltar				
	(d) Hong Kong				
	(e) Japan				
	(f) Mexico				
	(g) New Zealand				
	(h) Singapore				
	(i) South Africa				
	(j) the United Kingdom				
	(k) the United States of America				

Schedule 7 Supranational Agencies

For the purpose of these Rules, the following agencies are recognised by the Commission and are referred to as Supranational Agencies:

	Agency				
1	African Development Bank				
2	Asian Development Bank				
3	Caribbean Development Bank				
4	Council of Europe				
5	Eurofima				
6	European Bank for Reconstruction and Development				
7	European Investment Bank				
8	European Investment Fund				
9	Inter-American Development Bank				
10	International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank)				
11	International Finance Corporation				
12	Islamic Development Bank				
13	Nordic Investment Bank				

Schedule 8 General Business Risk Capital Factors

1. <u>Market Risk</u>

The market risk capital factors are as follows:

		Capital Factors		
Exposure Type	Bands	Commercial General Insurer	Commercial General Reinsurer	Captive General (Re)insurer
	Less than two	0.3%	0.3%	0.0%
Interest Rate Risk	Two to less than five years	2.6%	1.8%	1.4%
NOR	Five years and above	8.5%	6.0%	4.4%
	Less than two	1.4%	1.0%	0.6%
Spread Risk	Two to less than five years	4.9%	3.7%	2.4%
	Five years and above	8.7%	6.6%	4.3%
Currency Risk	All	25.0%	18.0%	10.0%
Equity Risk	Listed	39.0%	28.0%	16.0%
17	Unlisted	49.0%	35.0%	20.0%
Property Risk	All	25.0%	18.0%	5.0%
Derivatives	All	100.0%	100.0%	100%

Other	All	49.0%	35.0%	20.0%

The modified duration is the change in the value of the assets or liabilities for a 1% change in interest rates (part of which is spread risk). Note that this differs from the basic (or Macaulay) duration which is simply the weighted average time of a series of cash flows.

2. Counterparty Default Risk

Receivable Capital Factors

The Receivable Capital Factors for insurers, reinsurers and captives are as follows:

- (a) 0% for receivables due 90 days or less; and
- (b) 100% for receivables greater than 90 days overdue.

Other Default Risk Capital Factors

The Other Default Risk Capital Factors are as follows:

Credit Rating Band	Commercial General Insurer	Commercial General Reinsurer	Captive General (Re)insurer
AAA	1.3%	1.0%	0.0%
AA	3.0%	2.2%	1.0%

A	6.7%	4.9%	3.0%
BBB	14.7%	10.7%	6.0%
BB	54.4%	39.8%	24.0%
B or Lower	100.0%	73.1%	45.0%
Unrated	100.0%	73.1%	45.0%

Note that the Credit Rating Band relates to the direct counterparty to which there is an exposure. Where an exposure is to a Guernsey licensed bank and that bank is unrated, reference may be made to the credit rating of the parent bank.

Other Default Risk Recovery Rates

The Recovery Rates for insurers, reinsurers and captives are as follows:

- (a) 50% for receivables due from reinsurers; and
- (b) 0% for other exposure types.

3. Premium Risk

The Premium Risk Capital Factors are as follows -

Premium Risk Capital Factors

Line of Business	Commercial General Insurer	Commercial General Reinsurer	Captive General (Re)insurer
Motor	28.6%	20.9%	13.0%
General Liability	41.7%	30.1%	18.3%
Casualty Non-Proportional	52.2%	37.2%	22.3%
Marine, Aviation and	45.2%	32.4%	19.7%
MAT Non-Proportional	52.2%	37.2%	22.3%
Property	22.4%	16.5%	10.4%
Property Non-Proportional	52.2%	37.2%	22.3%
Legal Expenses	19.4%	14.4%	9.1%
Miscellaneous	28.9%	21.1%	13.1%
Health	19.7%	14.6%	9.2%
Health Non-Proportional	52.2%	37.2%	22.3%

4. Reserve Risk

The Reserve Risk Capital Factors are as follows -

	Reser	ve Risk Capital F	actors
Line of Business	Commercial General Insurer	Commercial General Reinsurer	Captive General (Re)insurer
Motor	25.5%	18.7%	11.7%
General Liability	31.8%	23.2%	14.4%
Casualty Non-Proportional	63.3%	44.5%	26.3%
Marine, Aviation and	31.8%	23.2%	14.4%
MAT Non-Proportional	63.3%	44.5%	26.3%
Property	28.6%	20.9%	13.0%
Property Non-Proportional	63.3%	44.5%	26.3%
Legal Expenses	35.1%	25.5%	15.7%
Miscellaneous	51.6%	36.8%	22.1%
Health	26.5%	19.5%	12.1%
Health Non-Proportional	63.3%	44.5%	26.3%

Schedule 9

General Business Diversification Adjustment

General Formula

The diversification adjustment determined using the Guernsey Standard Formula is calculated as -

Diversification Adjustment = Undiversified capital
$$-\sqrt{\sum_{x,y} Corr_{x,y} \cdot C_x \cdot C_y}$$

Where:

- (a) Undiversified capital is the capital requirement not allowing for diversification and, where relevant, any regulatory adjustment;
- (b) $\sum_{x,y}$ is the sum over all combinations of risks;
- (c) $Corr_{x,y}$ is the correlation between risks x and y; and
- (d) C_x , C_y is the capital requirement for individual risks x and y according to the rows and columns of the correlation matrix $Corr_{x,y}$; and

 $Corr_{x,y} = 1$ is equivalent to full correlation and leads to no diversification benefit.

 $Corr_{x,y} = 0$ is equivalent to no correlation and leads to full diversification benefit.

Correlation Matrix: PCR

(i) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Market	Default	Premium	Reserve
Market	1	0.25	0.25	0.25
Default	0.25	1 0.5		0.5
Premium	0.25	0.5	1	0.5
Reserve	0.25	0.5	0.5	1

(ii) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as

Corr	Market	Default	Premium	Reserve
Market	1	0	0	0
Default	0	1	0.25	0.25
Premium	0	0.25	1	0.25
Reserve	0	0.25	0.25	1

(iii)

Correlation Matrix: Market Risk

(i) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Interest	Spread	Currency	Other
Interest	1	0	0.25	0
Spread	0	1	0.25	0.75
Currency	0.25	0.25	1	0.25
Other Market	0	0.75	0.25	1

(ii) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Interest	Spread	Currency	Other
Interest	1	0	0	0
Spread	0	1	0	0.5
Currency	0	0	1	0
Other Market	0	0.5	0	1

Correlation Matrix: Counterparty Default Risk

For insurers, reinsurers and captive (re)insurers, $\mathsf{Corr}_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Receivables	Other
Receivables	1	1
Other	1	1

Correlation Matrix: Reserve Risk

(i) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	General Liability	Legal Expense	MAT	Motor	Property	Miscella neous	Casualty NP	MAT NP	Property NP	Health	Health NP
General Liability	1	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.5	0	0
Legal Expenses	0.5	1	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.5	0	0
MAT	0.25	0.5	1	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.25	0	0
Motor	0.5	0.25	0.25	1	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	0	0
Property	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	1	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.5	0	0
Miscellaneous	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	1	0.5	0.25	0.5	0	0

Casualty NP	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.5	1	0.25	0.25	0	0
MAT NP	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	1	0.5	0	0
Property NP	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.5	1	0	0
Health	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Health NP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1

(ii) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	General	Legal	MAT	Motor	Property	Miscella	Casualt	MAT	Property	Health	Health
General Liability	1	0.25	0	0.25	0	0	0	0.25	0.25	0	0
Legal Expenses	0.25	1	0.25	0	0	0	0	0.25	0.25	0	0
MAT	0	0.25	1	0	0	0	0	0.25	0	0	0
Motor	0.25	0	0	1	0.25	0	0	0	0.25	0	0
Property	0	0	0	0.25	1	0.25	0	0	0.25	0	0
Miscellaneous	0	0	0	0	0.25	1	0.25	0	0.25	0	0
Casualty NP	0	0	0	0	0	0.25	1	0	0	0	0
MAT NP	0.25	0.25	0.25	0	0	0	0	1	0.25	0	0
Property NP	0.25	0.25	0	0.25	0.25	0.25	0	0.25	1	0	0
Health	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.25
Health NP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.25	1

Correlation Matrix: Premium Risk

For insurers, reinsurers and captive (re)insurers, the correlation matrices for premium risk are the same as for reserve risk.

Schedule 10 Life Business Stresses and Risk Capital Factors

1. Real Interest Rate Stress

The instantaneous stresses that should be applied to the nominal interest rates are as follows:

	Commercia	ıl Life Insurer	Commercial	Life Reinsurer	Captive Life (Re)insurer		
Maturity t (years)	Up stress	Down stress	own stress Up stress		Up stress	Down stress	
0.25	70%	-75%	55%	-68%	36%	-36%	
0.5	70%	-75%	55%	-68%	36%	-36%	
1	70%	-75%	55%	-68%	36%	-36%	
2	70%	-65%	55%	-59%	30%	-38%	
3	64%	-56%	49%	-47%	26%	-36%	
4	59%	-50%	42%	-41%	22%	-33%	
5	55%	-46%	39%	-37%	21%	-31%	
6	52%	-42%	37%	-33%	20%	-28%	
7	49%	-39%	34%	-30%	19%	-25%	
8	47%	-36%	33%	-28%	19%	-23%	
9	44%	-33%	31%	-25%	18%	-21%	
10	42%	-31%	30%	-23%	17%	-20%	
11	39%	-30%	29%	-22%	16%	-20%	
12	37%	-29%	28%	-22%	15%	-19%	
13	35%	-28%	26%	-22%	15%	-19%	
14	34%	-28%	25%	-22%	14%	-19%	
15	33%	-27%	24%	-21%	14%	-18%	
16	31%	-28%	22%	-23%	13%	-19%	
17	30%	-28%	22%	-23%	12%	-19%	
18	29%	-28%	21%	-23%	12%	-19%	
19	27%	-29%	20%	-24%	11%	-20%	
≥20	26%	-29%	19%	-25%	11%	-20%	

Example of application for an insurer in the downward scenario at a maturity of 15 years:

N(15) = nominal interest rate at 15 years

 $N_s(15)$ = stressed nominal interest rate at 15 years

R(15) = real interest rate at 15 years

Rs(15) = stressed real interest rate at 15 years

When using nominal interest rates:

Stress =
$$N(15) x - 27\%$$

$$N_s(15) = N(15) + N(15) \times -27\%$$

When using real interest rates:

Stress =
$$N(15) x - 27\%$$

$$Rs(15) = R(15) + N(15) \times -27\%$$

2. Inflation Rate Stress

The instantaneous stresses that should be applied to the inflation rates are as follows:

	Inflation
Commercial Life Insurer	1.00%
Commercial Life Reinsurer	0.75%
Captive Life (Re)insurer	0.50%

3. Spread Stress and Default Factors

The stresses that should be applied to the current yields and the default factors are as follows:

	C	Commercial	Life Insure	er	Commercial Life Reinsurer				Captive Life (Re)insurer			
Credit Rating Band	Default Factor	Bonds Spreads	Structured / Securitise d Spread	Re- securitise d Spread	Default Factor	Bonds Spreads	Structured / Securitise d Spread	Re- securitise d Spread	Default Factor	Bonds Spreads	Structured / Securitise d Spread	Re- securitise d Spread
AAA	0.2%	0.6%	1.0%	1.8%	0.2%	0.5%	0.8%	1.4%	0.1%	0.3%	0.5%	0.9%
AA	0.6%	0.8%	1.4%	2.4%	0.5%	0.6%	1.1%	1.8%	0.3%	0.4%	0.7%	1.2%
A	1.2%	1.2%	2.0%	3.2%	0.9%	0.9%	1.5%	2.4%	0.6%	0.6%	1.0%	1.6%
BBB	3.0%	1.6%	2.5%	4.0%	2.3%	1.2%	1.9%	3.0%	1.5%	0.8%	1.2%	2.0%
BB	6.0%	2.0%	3.0%	5.0%	4.6%	1.5%	2.3%	3.8%	3.0%	1.0%	1.5%	2.5%
В	10.0%	2.5%	3.5%	6.0%	7.6%	1.9%	2.7%	4.6%	5.0%	1.2%	1.7%	3.0%
Less than B, Unrated	16.0%	3.0%	4.5%	7.5%	12.2%	2.3%	3.4%	5.7%	8.0%	1.5%	2.2%	3.7%

4. Currency Stress

The instantaneous stresses that should be applied to the exchange rates compared to the reporting currency are as follows:

	Up Stress	Down
		Stress
Commercial Life Insurer	25.0%	-25.0%
Commercial Life Reinsurer	18.0%	-18.0%
Captive Life (Re)insurer	10.0%	-10.0%

5. Equity Stress

The stresses that should be applied to equities are a fall in prices as follows:

		Equity	Other investments		
	Quoted Unquoted Strategic			Other	Derivatives
Commercial Life Insurer	39.0%	49.0%	22.0%	49.0%	n/a
Commercial Life Reinsurer	28.0%	35.0%	16.0%	35.0%	n/a
Captive Life (Re)insurer	16.0%	20.0%	9.0%	20.0%	n/a

An equity investment is of a strategic nature if the following criteria are met:

- (i) The value of the equity investment is likely to be materially less volatile for the following 12 months than the value of other equities over the same period as a result of both the nature of the investment and the influence exercised by the participating undertaking in the related undertaking.
- (ii) The nature of the investment is strategic, taking into account all relevant factors, including:
 - (a) the existence of a clear decisive strategy to continue holding the participation for long period

- (b) the consistency of the strategy referred to in point (a) with the main policies guiding or limiting the actions of the undertaking
- (c) the participating undertaking's ability to continue holding the participation in the related undertaking
- (d) the existence of a durable link
- (e) where the insurance or reinsurance participating company is part of a group, the consistency of such strategy with the main policies guiding or limiting the actions of the group.

6. Property Stress

The stresses that should be applied to property are a fall in prices as follows:

	Property
Commercial Life Insurer	25.0%
Commercial Life Reinsurer	18.0%
Captive Life (Re)insurer	5.0%

7. Counterparty Default Risk

Receivable Capital Factors

The Receivable Capital Factors for insurers, reinsurers and captives are as follows:

- (c) 0% for receivables due 90 days or less; and
- (d) 100% for receivables greater than 90 days overdue.

Other Default Risk Capital Factors

The Other Default Risk Capital Factors are as follows:

Credit Rating Band	Commercial Life Insurer	Commercial Life Reinsurer	Captive Life (Re)insurer
AAA	1.3%	1.0%	0.0%
AA	3.0%	2.2%	1.0%
A	6.7%	4.9%	3.0%
BBB	14.7%	10.7%	6.0%
BB	54.4%	39.8%	24.0%
B or Lower	100.0%	73.1%	45.0%
Unrated	100.0%	73.1%	45.0%

Note that the Credit Rating Band relates to the direct counterparty to which there is an exposure. Where an exposure is to a Guernsey licensed bank and that bank is unrated, reference may be made to the credit rating of the parent bank.

Other Default Risk Recovery Rates

The Recovery Rates for insurers, reinsurers and captives are as follows:

- (c) 50% for receivables due from reinsurers; and
- (d) 0% for other exposure types.

8. Underwriting Stress

The stresses that should be applied for the underwriting risks are as follows:

	Mortality	Longevity	Morbidity/Disability		Lapse			Expenses
			Recovery			Down	Mass	
			Inception Rates	Rates	Up Stress	Stress	Event	
Commercial Life Insurer	15.0%	20.0%	25.0%	20.0%	50.0%	50.0%	40.0%	10.0%
Commercial Life								
Reinsurer	11.5%	15.0%	19.0%	15.0%	38.0%	38.0%	30.0%	7.5%
Captive Life (Re)insurer	7.5%	10.0%	12.5%	10.0%	25.0%	25.0%	20.0%	5.0%

For the purpose of the upward lapse stress, the stressed lapse rates should be subject to a maximum of 100%.

For the purpose of the downward lapse stress, the magnitude of the stress should be subject to a maximum of 20%.

Example of application for an insurer:

L = lapse rate

Ls = stressed lapse rate

Increase in lapse rates

L = 50% $L_s = min[50\% x (1 + 50\%), 100\%] = 75\%$

L = 80% $L_S = min[80\% x (1 + 50\%), 100\%] = 100\%$

Decrease in lapse rates

L = 30% $L_s = 30\% - min[30\% \times 50\%, 20\%] = 15\%$

		Catastrophe Risk							
					Mass Accident				
	Life Pandemi c	Disability/ Morbidity Pandemic	Accidental deaths	Permanent total disabilities	Long term disabilities	Short term disabilities	Medical/In juries		
	per 1,000 lives	per 100,000 lives	per 100,000 lives	per 100,000 lives	per 100,000 lives	per 100,000 lives	per 100,000 lives		
Commercial Life Insurer	1.5	7.5	25	3.75	12.5	33.75	75		
Commercial Life Reinsurer	1.14	5.7	19	2.75	9.5	25.75	57		
Captive Life (Re)insurer	0.745	3.75	12.5	1.75	6.25	16.75	37.25		

Schedule 11

Life Business Diversification Adjustment

General Formula

The diversification adjustment determined using the Guernsey Standard Formula is calculated as -

Diversification Adjustment = Undiversified capital
$$-\sqrt{\sum_{x,y} Corr_{x,y} \cdot C_x \cdot C_y}$$

Where:

- (e) Undiversified capital is the capital requirement not allowing for diversification and, where relevant, any regulatory adjustment;
- (f) $\sum_{x,y}$ is the sum over all combinations of risks;
- (g) $Corr_{x,y}$ is the correlation between risks x and y; and
- (h) C_x , C_y is the capital requirement for individual risks x and y according to the rows and columns of the correlation matrix $Corr_{x,y}$; and

 $Corr_{x,y} = 1$ is equivalent to full correlation and leads to no diversification benefit.

 $Corr_{x,y} = 0$ is equivalent to no correlation and leads to full diversification benefit.

Correlation Matrix: PCR

(iv) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Market	Default	Underwriting
Market	1	0.25	0.25
Default	0.25	1	0.25
Underwriting	0.25	0.25	1

(v) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as

Corr	Market	Default	Underwriting
Market	1	0	0
Default	0	1	0
Underwriting	0	0	1

(vi)

Correlation Matrix: Market Risk

(iii) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Interest	Inflation	Spread	Currency	Equity	Property
Interest	1	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Inflation	0.25	1	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.5
Spread	0.25	0.25	1	0.25	0.75	0.5
Currency	0.25	0.25	0.25	1	0.25	0.25

Equity	0.25	0.5	0.75	0.25	1	0.75
Property	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.25	0.75	1

(iv) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Interest	Inflation	Spread	Currency	Equity	Property
Interest	1	0	0	0	0	0
Inflation	0	1	0	0	0.25	0.25
Spread	0	0	1	0	0.5	0.25
Currency	0	0	0	1	0	0
Equity	0	0.25	0.5	0	1	0.5
Property	0	0.25	0.25	0	0.5	1

Correlation Matrix: Counterparty Default Risk

For insurers, reinsurers and captive (re)insurers, $\mathsf{Corr}_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Receivables	Other	
Con	Receivables	Exposures	
Receivables	1	1	
Other	1	1	

Correlation Matrix: Underwriting Risk

(i) For insurers and reinsurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Mortality	Longevity	Disability/Morbidity	Lapse	Expense	Catastrophe
Mortality	1	-0.25	0.25	0	0.25	0.25
Longevity	-0.25	1	0	0.25	0.25	0
Disability/Morbidity	0.25	0	1	0	0.5	0.25
Lapse	0	0.25	0	1	0.5	0.25
Expense	0.25	0.25	0.5	0.5	1	0.25
Catastrophe	0.25	0	0.25	0.25	0.25	1

(ii) For captive (re)insurers, $Corr_{x,y}$ is defined as:

Corr	Mortality	Longevity	Disability/Morbidity	Lapse	Expense	Catastrophe
Mortality	1	-0.5	0	0	0	0
Longevity	-0.5	1	0	0	0	0
Disability/Morbidity	0	0	1	0	0.25	0
Lapse	0	0	0	1	0.25	0
Expense	0	0	0.25	0.25	1	0
Catastrophe	0	0	0	0	0	1

Correlation Matrix: Catastrophe Risk

For insurers, reinsurers and captive (re)insurers, $\mathsf{Corr}_{x,y}$ is defined as

Corr	Life	Disability/Morbidity	Mass
Con	pandemic	pandemic	accident
Life pandemic	1	0	0
Disability/Morbidity	0	1	0
Mass accident	0	0	1

Schedule 12 Green Criteria

For the purposes of Part 9 of these Rules, the following is a list of green criteria, endorsed by the Commission, as standards that can be adopted when considering whether an investment is a Green Asset.

An insurer may only apply Part 9 of the Rules to an asset that would meet the chosen criteria adopted from the table below.

An insurer can only apply one set of criteria for all their investments at any one time and must apply the criteria consistently.

Criteria	Date added	Source
The Common Principles for	14 th Dec. 2020	Appendix 1
Climate Mitigation Finance		
Tracking		

Appendix 1

List of activities eligible for classification as climate mitigation finance

Category	Sub-category	Example
1. Renewable	1.1 Electricity	Wind power
Energy	Generation	Geothermal power (only if net emission reductions can be demonstrated)
		Solar power (concentrated solar power, photovoltaic power)
		Biomass or biogas power that does not decrease biomass and soil carbon pools (only if net emission reductions can be demonstrated)
		Ocean power (wave, tidal, ocean currents, salt gradient, etc.)
		Hydropower plants (only if net emission reductions can be demonstrated)
	1.2 Heat Production or other renewable energy application	Solar water heating and other thermal applications of solar power in all sectors
		Thermal applications of geothermal power in all sectors
		Wind-drive pumping systems or similar
		Thermal applications of sustainability/produced bioenergy in all sectors, incl. efficient, improved biomass stoves

	1.3 Transmission systems, greenfield	New transmission systems (lines, substations) or new systems (e.g. new information and communication technology, storage family, etc.) and mini-grid to facilitate the integration of renewable energy sources into the grid Renewable energy power plant retrofits
		Improving existing systems to facilitate the integration of
2 I assess assets as an d	2.1 Transmission and	renewable energy sources into grid Retrofit of transmission lines or
2. Lower-carbon and		substations and/or distribution
efficient energy generation	distribution systems	systems to reduce energy use and/or technical losses, excluding capacity expansion
	2.2 Power Plants	Thermal power plant retrofit to fuel switch from a more greenhouse gas intensive fuel to a different, less greenhouse gas intensive fuel type
		Conversion of existing fossil-fuel based power plant to cogeneration technologies that generate electricity in addition to providing heating/cooling
		Waste heat recovery improvements
		Energy efficiency improvement in existing thermal power plant, industrial energy efficiency improvements through the installation of more efficient equipment, changes in processes, reduction of heat losses and/or increased waste heat recovery
3. Energy efficiency	3.1 Brownfield energy efficiency in industry	Installation of co/generation plants that generate electricity in addition to providing heating/cooling

	More efficient facility replacement of an older facility (old facility retired)
3.2 Brownfield energy efficiency in commercial, public and	Energy efficiency improvement in lighting, appliances and equipment
residential sectors	Substitution of existing
(buildings)	heating/cooling systems for
	buildings by co/generation plants
	that generate electricity in addition to providing heating/cooling
	Retrofit of existing building: architectural or building changes that enable reduction of energy consumption
3.3 Brownfield energy efficiency in public services	Energy efficiency improvement in utilities and public services through the installation of more efficient lighting or equipment
	Rehabilitation of district heating systems
	Utility heat loss reduction and/or increased waste heat recovery
	Improvement in utility scale energy efficiency through efficient use, and loss reduction
3.4 Vehicle energy efficiency fleet retrofit	Existing vehicles, rail or boat fleet retrofit or replacement (including the use of lower-carbon fuels, electric or hydrogen technologies, etc)
25 C C 11	III(hi-hh- 60 i)
3.5 Greenfield energy	Use of highly efficient and
efficiency in commercial and	architectural designs, energy efficiency and equipment, and
commercial and	emerciney and equipment, and

	residential sectors (buildings)	building techniques that reduce building energy consumption, exceeding available standards and complying with high energy efficiency certification or rating schemes
	3.6 Energy audits	Energy audits to energy end-users, including industries, buildings and transport systems
4. Agriculture, forestry and land-use	4.1 Agriculture	Reduction in energy use in traction (e.g. efficient tillage), irrigation and other agriculture processes
		Agriculture projects that do not deplete and/or improve existing carbon pools (reduction in fertiliser use, rangeland management, collection and use of bagasse, rice husks, or other agricultural waste, low tillage techniques that increase carbon contents of soil, rehabilitation of degraded lands, etc.)
	4.2 Afforestation and reforestation, and	Afforestation (plantations) on non- forested land
	biosphere conservation	Reforestation on previously forested land
		Sustainable forest management activities that increase carbon stocks or reduce the impact of forestry activities
		Biosphere conservation projects (including payments for ecosystem services) targeting reducing emissions from the deforestation or degradation of ecosystems
	4.3 Livestock	Livestock projects that reduce methane or other greenhouse gas

		emissions (manure management and biodigestors, etc.)
	4.4 Biofuels	Production of biofuels (including biodiesel and bioethanol)
5. Non-energy greenhouse gas reduction	5.1 Fugitive emissions	Reduction of gas flaring or methane fugitive emissions in the oil and gas industry
		Coal mine methane capture
	5.2 Carbon capture and storage	Projects for carbon capture and storage technology that intend to prevent release of large quantities of CO2 into the atmosphere from fossil fuel use in power generation and process emissions in other industries
	5.3 Air conditioning and refrigeration	Retrofit to existing industrial, commercial and residential infrastructure to switch to cooling agent with lower global warming potential
	5.4 Industrial processes	Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions resulting from industrial process improvements and cleaner production (e.g. cement, chemical), excluding carbon capture and storage
6. Waste and wastewater		Treatment of wastewater if not a compliance requirement (e.g. performance standard or safeguard) as part of a larger project that reduces methane emissions (only if net emission reductions can be demonstrated)
		Waste management and waste-to- energy projects that reduce methane emissions and generate energy (e.g. incineration of waste, landfill gas

	Τ	T
		capture, and landfill gas
		combustion)
		Waste-recycling projects that recover
		or reuse materials and waste as
		inputs into new products or as a
		resource (only if net emission
		reductions can be demonstrated)
7 T	71 II.l	·
7. Transport	7.1 Urban transport	Urban mass transit
	modal change	
		Non-motorised transport (bicycles
		and pedestrian mobility)
	7.2 Transport oriented	Integration of transport and urban
	urban development	development planning (dense
		development, multiple land-use,
		walking communities, transit
		_
		connectivity, etc.) leading to a
		reduction in the use of passenger
		cars
		Transport demand management
		measures to reduce GHG emissions
		(e.g. speed limits, high-occupancy
		vehicles, congestion charging/road
		pricing, parking management,
		restriction or auctioning of licence
		plates, car-free city areas, low
		[*]
		emission zones)
	7.3 Inter-urban	
	transport	Railway transport ensuring a modal
		shift of freight and/or passenger
		transport from road to rail
		(improvement of existing lines or
		construction of new lines)
		and the state of t
		Waterways transport opeuring a
		Waterways transport ensuring a
		modal shift of freight and/or
		passenger transport from road to
		waterways (improvement of existing
		infrastructure or construction of new
		infrastructure)
8. Low-carbon	8.1 Products or	Projects producing components,
technologies	equipment	equipment or infrastructure
- 0 - 0	1 1 1 -	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

		do dicato d for the non-correlle and
		dedicated for the renewable and
		energy efficiency sectors
	8.2 R & D	Research and development of
		renewable energy or energy
		efficiency technologies
9. Cross-cutting	9.1 Support to national,	Mitigation national, sectoral, or
issues	regional or local policy,	territorial policies/planning/action
	through technical	plan policy/planning/institutions
	assistance or policy	
	lending, fully or	Energy sector policies and
	partially dedicated to	regulations (energy efficiency
	climate change policy	standards or certification schemes;
	or action	energy efficiency procurement
	or action	schemes; renewable energy policies)
		screnics, renewable energy policies)
		Crystoms for monitoring the
		Systems for monitoring the
		emissions of greenhouse gases
		D.C
		Efficient pricing of fuels and
		electricity (subsidy rationalisation
		efficient end-user tariffs and efficient
		regulations on electricity generation,
		transmission or distribution)
		Education, training, capacity
		building and awareness raising on
		climate change
		mitigation/sustainable
		energy/sustainable transport;
		mitigation research
		Other policy and regulatory
		activities, including those in non-
		energy sectors, leading to climate
		change mitigation or mainstreaming
		of climate action
	0.2 0.1	
	9.2 Other activities	
	with net greenhouse	Any other activity not included in
	gas reduction	this list for which the results of an
		ex-ante greenhouse gas accounting
		(undertaken according to commonly
		agreed methodologies) show
		emission reductions
		emission reductions

markets and finance e, sale, trading, financing r technical assistance). all activities related to nce-grade carbon assets and
all activities related to nce-grade carbon assets and sms, such as CDM, JI, AAUs
s well-established voluntary tandards like VCS or Gold
l